

Mapping Types of Shareholder Lawsuits Across Jurisdictions

Law Working Paper N° 363/2017

August 2017

Martin Gelter Fordham University and ECGI

© Martin Gelter 2017. All rights reserved. Short sections of text, not to exceed two paragraphs, may be quoted without explicit permission provided that full credit, including © notice, is given to the source.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from: http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=3011444

www.ecgi.org/wp

european corporate governance institute

ECGI Working Paper Series in Law

Mapping Types of Shareholder Lawsuits Across Jurisdictions

Working Paper N° 363/2017 August 2017

Martin Gelter

For helpful comments and discussion, I thank Nemika Jha, Neshat Safari, and participants of the 2016 Corporate & Securities Litigation Workshop at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign's Illini Center in Chicago.

© Martin Gelter 2017. All rights reserved. Short sections of text, not to exceed two paragraphs, may be quoted without explicit permission provided that full credit, including © notice, is given to the source.

Abstract

Shareholder litigation has been a prominent topic in the comparative corporate governance literature for decades. However, scholars trained in a particular jurisdiction often tend to look for types of lawsuits familiar from their home turf. In particular, the English-language literature has typically focused on derivative litigation, often from a somewhat US-centric or UK-centric perspective, in spite of the fact that derivative suits constitute only a minority of shareholder actions even in these jurisdictions.

To broaden the functional perspective in the comparative analysis of shareholder litigation, this chapter attempts to create a (likely incomplete) taxonomy of shareholder law-suits across countries. While the distinction between derivative suits and direct class actions in the US is largely familiar, many other jurisdictions employ different types of shareholder lawsuits. In doing so, we can identify some patterns that may in part reflect influence between jurisdictions reflecting legal families or legal origins. The derivative suit has risen to prominence in the United States as a frequently used mechanism, from where it has spread to a number of Asian civil law jurisdictions. In the United Kingdom and other "Commonwealth" countries, where it also has a long tradition, it is often eclipsed by the "unfair prejudice" or "oppression" remedy. In the civil law world, derivative litigation and close equivalents exist, but often another form of shareholder litigation takes a more prominent role, namely litigation regarding the validity of shareholder resolutions.

After setting up the taxonomy, this chapter explores the main reasons that explain why specific types are pervasive in particular jurisdictions, analyzing especially standing requirements, allocation of cost and risk between plaintiffs and defendants, and access to information by plaintiffs. Finally, the chapter discusses lawsuits seeking to rescind shareholder decisions in Germany as an example for a frequently used type of litigation outside the American dichotomy of derivative and direct suits.

Keywords: Corporate Governance, Comparative Corporate Law, Shareholder Lawsuits, Derivative Suits, Direct Suits, Unfair Prejudice, Inquiry Proceedings, Rescission, Nullification, Courts, Discovery

JEL Classifications: K22, K41

Martin Gelter*
Professor of Law
Fordham University, School of Law
150 W. 62nd Street
New York, NY 10023, United States

phone: +1 646 312 8752

e-mail: mgelter@law.fordham.edu

*Corresponding Author

Fordham University School of Law



July 2017

Mapping Types of Shareholder Lawsuits across Jurisdictions

By
Martin Gelter
PROFESSOR OF LAW
Fordham University School of Law

Forthcoming

Research Handbook on Shareholder Litigation by Jessica Erickson, Sean Griffith, David Webber and Verity Winship, eds.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from the Social Science Research Network electronic library: http://ssrn.com/abstract=3011444

Mapping Types of Shareholder Lawsuits across Jurisdictions

MARTIN GELTER*

To be published in:

Research Handbook on Shareholder Litigation (Jessica Erickson, Sean Griffith, David Webber & Verity Winship eds.)

Shareholder litigation has been a prominent topic in the comparative corporate governance literature for decades. However, scholars trained in a particular jurisdiction often tend to look for types of lawsuits familiar from their home turf. In particular, the English-language literature has typically focused on derivative litigation, often from a somewhat US-centric or UK-centric perspective, in spite of the fact that derivative suits constitute only a minority of shareholder actions even in these jurisdictions.

To broaden the functional perspective in the comparative analysis of shareholder litigation, this chapter attempts to create a (likely incomplete) taxonomy of shareholder lawsuits across countries. While the distinction between derivative suits and direct class actions in the US is largely familiar, many other jurisdictions employ different types of shareholder lawsuits. In doing so, we can identify some patterns that may in part reflect influence between jurisdictions reflecting legal families or legal origins. The derivative suit has risen to prominence in the United States as a frequently used mechanism, from where it has spread to a number of Asian civil law jurisdictions. In the United Kingdom and other "Commonwealth" countries, where it also has a long tradition, it is often eclipsed by the "unfair prejudice" or "oppression" remedy. In the civil law world, derivative litigation and close equivalents exist, but often another form of shareholder litigation takes a more prominent role, namely litigation regarding the validity of shareholder resolutions.

After setting up the taxonomy, this chapter explores the main reasons that explain why specific types are pervasive in particular jurisdictions, analyzing especially standing requirements, allocation of cost and risk between plaintiffs and defendants, and access to information by plaintiffs. Finally, the chapter discusses lawsuits seeking to rescind shareholder decisions in Germany as an example for a frequently used type of litigation outside the American dichotomy of derivative and direct suits.

^{*} Professor of Law, Fordham University School of Law; Research Associate, European Corporate Governance Institute. For helpful comments and discussion, I thank Nemika Jha, Neshat Safari, and participants of the 2016 Corporate & Securities Litigation Workshop at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign's Illini Center in Chicago.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Conflicts of interest and shareholder litigation	
3. A taxonomy of shareholder lawsuits	
3.1. Lawsuits addressing harm to the corporation	6
3.2. Lawsuits addressing harm to shareholders	9
3.3. Appraisal rights and similar mechanisms	14
3.4. Oppression and unfair prejudice claims	17
4. Common policy issues	23
4.1. Institutional preconditions for effective shareholder litigation	123
4.1.1. Standing to sue	24
4.1.2. Allocation of cost and risk	28
4.1.3. Access to information	30
4.2. German rescission lawsuits as an example	32
5. Conclusion	
Bibliography	37

1. Introduction

When corporate law scholars trained in the United States explore shareholder litigation abroad, they often start by looking for types of shareholder litigation familiar from the US legal landscape. In particular, scholarship often explores derivative litigation in various jurisdictions, often from a somewhat US-centric perspective (e.g., West, 1994; Baum and Puchniak, 2012; Gelter, 2012). To be sure, derivative litigation can potentially serve an important function in disciplining directors and other fiduciaries, even if it constitutes only a minority of shareholder actions. When we look at the totality of shareholder litigation from a functional perspective, even in the US we have to take a broader perspective and take direct actions, securities class actions and appraisal into account, as well as the oppression remedy when we look at small firms and outside of Delaware. In comparative analysis, we may have to look even further.

In this vein, this chapter attempts to create a functional (but likely incomplete) taxonomy of shareholder lawsuits across jurisdictions. While the distinction between derivative suits and direct class actions in the US is largely familiar, many other jurisdictions employ different types of shareholder lawsuits. While the buzzword of "legal origins" almost sounds like a broken record in comparative corporate law, we can identify some patterns of influence. The derivative suit, while it exists in common law jurisdictions in general, has risen to prominence in the United States as a frequently used mechanism, from where it has spread to a number of Asian civil law jurisdictions. In the UK and other "Commonwealth" jurisdictions, it is often eclipsed by the "unfair prejudice" or "oppression" remedy. In the civil law world, derivative litigation and close equivalents exist, but often another form of shareholder litigation takes a more prominent role, namely litigation regarding the validity of shareholder resolutions.

This chapter proceeds as follows. Section 2 briefly describes the types of harm shareholder lawsuits seek to address. Based on this, section 3 develops a taxonomy of shareholder litigation. Section 4 looks at common policy issues across jurisdictions that determine which types of suits will likely be used and identifies the most common factors. It takes a more in-depth look at German rescission litigation, and how German law addressed the frequently discussed problem of abusive litigation by repeat plaintiffs. Section 5 concludes.

2. Conflicts of interest and shareholder litigation

Corporate law gives rise to a number of different conflicts of interest between directors, managers, and shareholders, as well as among shareholders. The types of conflict of interest are of course to some extent contingent on the *type and ownership structure of the corporation*. These

types are typically linked to different types of *harm* inflicted on corporations and (minority) share-holders.

First, harm may be inflicted *upon the corporation*, either through the careless business decisions, or because of a transaction benefiting the fiduciary (for example, self-dealing). In this case, other shareholders are harmed reflectively because of the loss in value of their shares. This is a pattern that we often see in the classical "Berle-Means corporation," which continues to animate most policy discussions in the US. It is characterized by a powerful management and dispersed shareholders, who suffer from collective action problems and are therefore rarely in the position to coordinate and influence management (e.g., Berle and Means, 1932; Roe, 1994). Traditional comparative corporate governance scholarship emphasizes how dispersed ownership prevails in the US and the UK, setting these jurisdictions apart from other large economies. The US and the UK have often been distinguished by the dominant type of dispersed owners, since in the US historically retail investors took a large proportion, whereas in the UK share ownership was typically dispersed among institutional investors (e.g., Armour, 2009, pp. 109-110). The typical conflict of interest is between managers and shareholders as a class. Managers may, for example, self-deal, take corporate opportunities, or act carelessly in making decisions, thus harming the corporation.

Harm to the corporation may also arise from the presence of a controlling shareholder. Corporations with concentrated ownership have traditionally prevailed in public corporations dominating in most other developed jurisdictions besides the US and UK. Managers are thought to be largely held in check by large shareholders, but besides the occasional squabble within the controlling coalition, conflicts of interests typically erupt between outside investors on the one hand, and controlling shareholders (another firm or financial institution, a family, or the government) on the

other (e.g., Becht & Roëll, 1999; La Porta et al., 1999; Ringe, 2015, pp. 496-498). Harm to the corporation often results from self-dealing transactions between the corporation and a major shareholder.

Second, *shareholders may get harmed directly* without any corresponding loss to the corporation, typically by *diluting* their ownership stake in some way for the benefit of majority shareholders. This typically happens when new shares are issued (for example, to a majority shareholder at a low price), when shares are repurchased, and in the course of a merger where shareholders received inadequate compensation (e.g., Conac et al., 2007, p. 496). One of the most salient scenarios is the freezeout merger (internationally often known as "squeezeout", see, for instance, Khanna and Varottil, 2016, p. 1012). These types of problems are particularly salient in firms (and jurisdictions) with concentrated ownership, given that the majority typically benefits from diluting the minority.

Third, shareholders may sometimes be formally treated equally, but a particular conduct, or the absence of such conduct, has a more significant impact on some shareholders than on others, resulting in particular harm to the former. This happens especially in closely-held firms, where conflicts of interest typically arise between a majority shareholder (or a controlling coalition) and minority shareholders, although the impact on whoever ends up in the minority are often more severe. Shares in closely-held corporations are typically an illiquid investment without a market allowing a sale, and often a legal arrangement locking minority shareholders into a position where

¹ In the US, the term "squeezeout" tends to refer to situations where minority shareholders are put under significant pressure by the majority in closed corporations. *See* O'Neal & Thompson (2016), § 9:2.

they can expect neither profits nor capital gains (Bachmann et al., 2014, pp. 9-11). For example, shareholders in control might withhold dividends from the minority and remove them from management functions in order to coerce them to sell at a low price (e.g., Moll, 2005, p. 890-891; O'Neal and Thompson, 2016, § 9:2). In closely-held firms, patterns of oppression often combine harm to the corporation and to minority shareholders.

Fourth, shareholders in publicly-traded firms may be harmed by false and misleading information being publicized by the company. Oddly, in this situation the harm incurred by plaintiffs is actually compensated by the gains of other market participants. The social cost is actually the reduced functioning of the market, and in part results from inefficient decisions being made based on distorted information (Velikonja, 2013). The taxonomy in the following section omits the fourth type of harm, which is typically within the purview of securities law.

3. A taxonomy of shareholder lawsuits

3.1. Lawsuits addressing harm to the corporation

Seeking redress for harm to a corporation is usually a task assigned to a corporation's directors or officers. In two-tier board systems such as the German one, litigation might be a responsibility of the supervisory board if the defendant is a member of the management board. In many jurisdictions, however, shareholders have some form of remedy if a claim is not pursued, at least under circumstances that raise suspicions that the decision to sue was not disinterested.

US law is comparatively liberal in permitting shareholder litigation of this type, allowing a derivative suit in principle for any claim "in the right of the corporation," meaning the derivative

suits are not limited to claims against directors or managers.² A major hurdle is the "demand requirement," which gives the board the opportunity to pursue the claim itself, and which is only waived if the board is conflicted in a way that would render demand futile.³ Many jurisdictions limit derivative suits to claims against directors for violations of their duties as such, which is in principle true even for the UK, where a derivative claim must arise from a violation of directors' duties.⁴ Others, such as controlling shareholders, may be sued under this provision only if they were involved in the director's breach (see Davies and Worthington, 2016, ¶ 17-14).⁵ In the UK, the rule of *Foss v. Harbottle*⁶ historically made derivative suits difficult by limiting them mainly to cases of "fraud on the minority" where the majority shareholder is conflicted and it would not be appropriate for shareholders to decide collectively whether to bring a suit (Baum and Puchniak, 2012, pp. 68-69). While the rule has been superseded by the somewhat more lawsuit-friendly Companies Act 2006, it continues to influence other common law jurisdictions, including those in Asia (see Puchniak, 2012, pp. 114-124).

Continental European and other civil law countries have historically been divided as to whether they even provided for a derivative suit in the narrow sense. While France and Switzerland

-

² See, e.g., FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, Rule 23.1(a) ("This rule applies when one or more shareholders or members of a corporation or an unincorporated association bring a derivative action to enforce a right that the corporation or association may properly assert but has failed to enforce.").

³ FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, Rule 23.1(b)(3).

⁴ COMPANIES ACT s. 260(3) (UK) (permitting derivative suits "only in respect of a cause of action arising from an actual or proposed act or omission involving negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust by a director of the company"). A derivative suite in the UK may also be used to enjoin director's action that would violate their duties (De Dier, 2013, p. 471).

⁵ Moreover, UK law includes "shadow directors." COMPANIES ACT s. 260(5)(b) (UK).

⁶ Foss v. Harbottle, [1843] 67 E.R. 89. (Ch.).

provided for an individual right to enforce directors' liability claims, in Germany, Austria, Belgium, Italy and Spain suing directors was historically a collective right of shareholders that could be initiated in the shareholder meeting (Gelter, 2012, pp. 853-854; Siems, 2012, pp. 98-100; Baum and Puchniak, 2012, pp. 82-84). Under the latter system, only if the majority decided against a lawsuit, a minority exceeding a specified percentage can petition a court to appoint a special representative to enforce the claim on behalf of the corporation. As this instrument was widely considered ineffective, Germany enacted a reform in 2004, which enabled what can be considered an actual derivative suit, but still requires plaintiff shareholders to hold at least 1 per cent of the corporation's shares (e.g., Saenger, 2015, pp. 20-24). Most Continental European countries provide for some form of minority enforcement mechanism, although often it is similarly limited to a qualified minority, and to claims against directors, but not, for example, controlling shareholders. ⁷ The Asian civil law jurisdictions of Japan, South Korea and Taiwan have adopted the US-style derivative suit during the second half of the twentieth century, and at least Japan and Korea have seen a fair number of lawsuits (Puchniak, 2012, p. 100-111; Osugi, 2016, p. 50 [reporting 121 derivative suits in Japan between 1991 and 2011]).

Overall, derivative suits are not a necessary element of corporate law systems across jurisdictions. For example, under Chinese law, only a 2005 reform that came into force in 2006 made it clear that a derivative suit is possible, even if there was previously some debate about the issue

-

⁷ Note that this describes only the situation in the *Aktiengesellschaft* (public company). In the *Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung*, under German law the *action pro socio* is generally accepted by the courts as a mechanism for the corporation to enforce claims against members provided that managers do not adequately pursue the claim. *E.g.*, Cabrelli (2013), pp. 307-308. The same is true in private limited companies in other European jurisdictions. Bachmann et al. (2014), pp. 65-66.

(Huang, 2012, p. 621). But maybe more to the point, Dutch law does not offer a derivative suit or similar mechanism (Schuit et al., 2002, p. 155; Gerner-Beuerle and Schuster, 2014, p. 216).

Jurisdictions are sometimes more liberal with respect to suits seeking to police the boundaries of directors' powers. For example, in the UK individual shareholders can enforce the "proper purpose" rule codified in s. 171 of the Companies Act. Directors must act in accordance with the company's constitution and only exercise powers for the purpose for which they are conferred. Since these are understood to be individual rights of shareholders under the corporate charter, individuals can bring a suit (De Dier, 2013, p. 473), even if strictly speaking the corporation is harmed. Similarly, under German law, the individual shareholders may bring a suit when directors take actions which they would have been required to submit to shareholders, for example, under the Holzmüller doctrine (Saenger, 2015, p. 18). Both the UK and the German suit are not understood as individual suits and thus are not subject to particular procedural requirements.

3.2. Lawsuits addressing harm to shareholders

In the US, direct suits are distinguished from derivative suits in that the harm they address is a personal injury of a shareholder, or an entire class of shareholders. Consequently, Delaware's *Tooley* test looks at whether the corporation or the shareholders were harmed, and whether consequently the corporation or the shareholders should receive the remedy. Such a suit might be brought if a right to obtain information or a right to vote is infringed upon, or in the case of a stock

⁸ The Holzmüller case BGH II ZR 174/80, BGHZ 83, 122 and subsequent case law concern the question under what circumstances shareholders must be asked to approve a spin-off of the company's main operations into a subsidiary. *See* Rock et al. (2017), pp. 199-200.

⁹ Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc., 845 A.2d 1031 (Del. 2004).

issue or merger with disadvantageous effects for (some) shareholders. From the plaintiff lawyer's perspective, direct actions have the advantage that they do not have to pass the demand requirement and thus can go into discovery without facing this additional hurdle; however, when brought as class actions, they have to meet class certification requirements. Often direct suits are brought when a merger transaction is announced. Because of the time-critical nature of mergers, firms are under strong pressure to settle, which often arguably result in disclosure-only settlements that produce few benefits for shareholders (Fisch et al., 2014, pp. 563-568).

In comparative perspective, similar suits exist for such situations in other jurisdictions. ¹⁰ In countries such as France and Germany, the distinction between derivative and other suits as said to be rather obvious, given that the relief sought is different (Baum and Puchniak, 2012, p. 11). However, as a general characteristic of civil procedure, class actions are often not available in many jurisdictions outside the US; typically, it is necessary to "opt in," which strongly reduces the bargaining power of a plaintiff lawyer acting as a "private attorney general" (for the "group litigation order" in the UK, see, for example, Armour et al., 2009, p. 693; Cheffins and Black 2006, p. 1411-1412; generally for European civil procedure, see Issacharoff and Miller, 2009, p. 202).

Especially in civil law jurisdictions, the functional equivalent to the American direct class action suit are often lawsuits seeking to rescind or nullify decisions taken in the shareholder meeting (for Germany, see Vermeulen and Zetzsche, 2010, p. 23; for Spain, Sáez and Riaño 2013, p.

¹⁰ See, for instance, the French *action individuelle*, which is thought to be based on C. COM. art. L.225-253 (Fr.) in the SA. See De Wulf (2010), p. 1558. In the SARL, the suit is based on C. COM. art. L.223-22 (Fr.).

366, who report 188 suits against shareholder decisions between 2000 and 2011]). ¹¹ Corporate laws often include statutes governing these types of suit, which automatically have a class-wide effect as a rescission stops a transactions for all shareholders. In some jurisdictions, these provisions also address lawsuits seeking to invalidate formal board resolutions. ¹² These lawsuits tend to be fairly common across jurisdictions, and their prevalence seems to be linked to the fact that in European countries, a larger number of decisions require a shareholder vote than in the United States. ¹³ Besides the election of directors ¹⁴ and changes to corporate articles ¹⁵, European shareholders typically vote on the approval of financial statements ¹⁶ and virtually always on the issuance of dividends. ¹⁷

¹¹ AKTG §§ 241-57 (Ger.); C. COM. art. L. 235-1 (Fr.); C.c. arts. 2377-79 (It.); LEY DE SOCIEDADES DE CAPITAL (LSC) art. 204 (Spain); BURGERLIJK WETBOEK [BW] arts. 2:13–2:16 (Neth.).

On the technical level, there is a typically distinction between resolutions that need to be rescinded and those that are null and void. This may make a difference, among other things, for standing requirements and limitation periods.

¹² E.g., C. COM. art. 235-1(2) (Fr.); LSC art. 251 (Spain); C.c. art. 2388 (It.) (shareholders can challenge the validity of board decisions if they infringe upon their rights). *See also* De Dier (2013), pp. 481-487, pp. 488-490, pp. 491-493 (discussing Belgian, French, and Dutch law).

¹³ E.g., Hellgardt and Hoger (2011), p. 48 (pointing out that lawsuits under DGCL § 225(b), which permits stockholders to challenge the validity of the result of any vote of stockholders, likely have remained rare because shareholders have smaller decision-making powers in the US, in particular as regards increase and reduction of the number of outstanding shares, which typically can be decided by directors); *see also* Gelter (2012), p. 883.

¹⁴ AKTG § 101(1) (Ger.); C. COM. art. L. 225-18 (Fr.); LSC art. 214 (Spain); C.c. art. 2364(2) (It.); BW arts. 2:132 (Neth.).

 $^{^{15}}$ AKTG § 179(1) (Ger.); C. COM. art. L. 225-96 (Fr.); LSC art. 285.1 (Spain); C.C. art. 2365 (It.); BW art. 2:121 (Neth.).

¹⁶ C. Com. art. L. 225-100 (Fr.); LSC arts. 160(a), 272.1 (Spain); C.C. art. 2364(1) (It.); BW arts. 2:117(5), 2:362(6) (Neth.). In Germany, shareholders vote on financial statements only in cases of disagreements between the management and supervisory boards. AKTG § 173 (Ger.).

¹⁷ AKTG § 58 (Ger.); C. COM. art. L. 232-11 (Fr.); LSC art. 273.1 (Spain); C.C. art. 2364bis(4) (It.).

Most importantly, they vote on increases¹⁸ and capital reductions,¹⁹ as well as mergers²⁰ and divisions.²¹ This means that an issuance of new shares as well as any change to the corporation's financial structure requires a vote. Some jurisdictions, notably France, go even further and require shareholder votes for related party-transactions with directors and certain significant shareholders.²² The EU Shareholder Rights Directive, as amended in 2017, requires a shareholder vote on remuneration policy.²³

Given that in concentrated ownership systems where corporations are de facto controlled by a shareholder or a shareholder coalition, rescission lawsuits that are formally brought against the corporation constitute de facto a way for minority shareholders to put the brakes on the majority's actions. Based on allegations of legal impropriety of the decision, minority shareholders can bring a lawsuit, usually without having to meet a minimum ownership threshold.²⁴ Depending on

-

¹⁸ See AKTG §§ 182, 192, 202 (Ger.); C. COM. arts. L. 225-129, L. 225-130 (Fr.); LSC art. 296.1 (Spain); BW art. 2:96 (Neth.).

¹⁹ AKTG §§ 222, 229, 237 (Ger.); C. COM. art. L. 225-204 (Fr.); LSC art. 318.1 (Spain); BW art. 2:99 (Neth.).

²⁰ UMWANDLUNGSGESETZ [UMWG] [Reorganization Act], §§ 13, 65 (Ger.); C. COM. art. L. 236-2 (Fr.); LEY 3/2009 DE 3 DE ABRIL SOBRE MODIFICACIONES ESTRUCTURALES DE LAS SOCIEDADES MERCANTILES [LSME], arts. 8, 40 (Spain); C.C. art. 2365 (It.); BW art. 2:317 (Neth.).

 $^{^{21}}$ E.g. UMWG § 125 (Ger.); LSME art. 73 (Spain) (both referring to the sections governing mergers); BW art. 2:234m (Neth.).

²² C. Com. art. L. 225-38, 225-40 (Fr.). The ownership threshold for shareholders triggering a vote is 10 per cent. *See*, *e.g.*, Conac et al. (2007), p. 498. The EU Shareholder Rights Directive, as amended in 2017, states that Member States must require approval either by the general meeting or the administrative or supervisory board. Shareholder Rights Directive 2007/36/EC as amended by Directive 2017/828/EU, art. 9c(4).

²³ Shareholder Rights Directive, art. 9a.

²⁴ AKTG § 245(1) (Ger.) (providing that a shareholder who submitted a written objection in the shareholder meeting has standing); BW art. 2:15(3)(a) (Neth.) (providing that a person with a legal interest can sue); *see* Germain (2002), p. 412 (explaining that in France, the party the law intends to protect can sue).

the applicable substantive law, this may allow a court to review whether a majority shareholder in exercising his voting power violated the duty of loyalty or engaged in conduct considered abusive (Conac et al., 2007, pp. 501-502; Sáez and Riaño, 2013, p. 363; Enriques et al., 2017, pp. 161-162), even if in practice it is typically easier to bring a suit based on violations of procedural and information rules. Given the hurdles that derivative suits sometimes face in these jurisdictions, this type of lawsuit is often the main mechanism keeping controlling shareholders in check (for Spain, see Sáez and Riaño, 2013, pp. 364-365; for the annulment of decisions to retain profits in a French company, see Conac, 2013, p. 228-229). 25

Lawsuits challenging the validity of shareholder resolutions are also fairly common in East Asia, particularly South Korea. Japan adopted the framework for rescission and "nullity" lawsuits from Germany in various corporate law reforms starting in 1899, and South Korea followed the Japanese influence in reforms in 1962 and 1984 (Kim and Choi, 2016, p. 223). Between 1998 and 2013, the Seoul Central District Court recorded between 10 and 23 lawsuits against shareholder meeting decisions every year, and never more than seven derivative suits per year (in some years none or only one or two) (Kim and Choi, 2016, p. 229-230).

An advantage of rescission suits is that generally, other than in derivative suits, shareholders have standing without having to pass a minimum ownership threshold. There are some exceptions

²⁵ For the UK, see Ringe (2017), pp. 266, 272 (pointing out that shareholders in the UK are not subject to fiduciary duties, but merely a limited obligation to "act bona fide for the benefit of the company as a whole" when voting, which generally permits them to vote in their own interest); *see also* Conac (2013), p. 246.

²⁶ This means a lawsuit declaring that a resolution is void, as opposed to one that is merely voidable.

such as Italy, where only shareholders holding 0.1 per cent or more of voting rights may seek the nullification of a decision of the shareholder meeting of a publicly traded firm.²⁷ The 2003 reform introducing these thresholds has arguably made it harder to police self-dealing transactions and facilitated exploitative conduct by controlling shareholders (Enriques, 2009, p. 498). While rescission suits do not provide complete deterrence, they remain a major enforcement mechanism for those transactions subject to a shareholder vote. Thus, the possibility of rescission suits in combination with voting requirements constitutes a major mechanism to hold controlling shareholders accountable in concentrated ownership systems (Sáez and Riaño, 2013, pp. 378, 390). Similarly, since a 2014 amendment Spanish corporate law also limits standing to shareholders individually or jointly holding at least 1 per cent (0.1 per cent in publicly traded firms), except in those cases where the decision violates public policy.²⁸

3.3. Appraisal rights and similar mechanisms

In addition, jurisdictions sometimes provide remedies for the dilution of share value in mergers and related transactions, which often do not require a showing a violation of a law or charter, but merely a mispricing of the compensation received by shareholders. Moreover, invalidating a merger that has already been consummated creates practical problems, which is why many jurisdictions attempt to limit redress to a repricing (e.g., Ventoruzzo, 2010, p. 883; Conac, 2013, pp. 229-230). Appraisal rights in the US provide the prime example. In Delaware, specifically, they are available for statutory mergers, whereas some states add sales of all assets or de facto mergers

²⁷ C.C. art. 2377 (It.). These thresholds were introduced in 2003, apparently because of concerns about excessive lawsuits. In privately held firms, the threshold is 5 per cent.

²⁸ LSC arts. 206.1, 206.2, 495.2(b) (Spain).

to their scope of applicability. The usefulness of appraisal rights in Delaware is limited by a number of factors. First, the scope of applicability of the provision – which depends in part on the compensation given to shareholders – appears to follow no consistent theory. Second, the provision requires that dissenting shareholders submit a written demand for appraisal to the corporation before voting against it. Consequently, only a limited set of shareholders will typically be able to petition for appraisal, which stands in contrast to a fiduciary duty class action against a merger, where plaintiff counsel will represent the entire class consisting of all (minority shareholders), thus vastly increasing bargaining power vis-à-vis the defendant (for a summary of the critique, see Korsmo and Myers, 2015, pp. 1560-1566).

European law, in harmonizing merger procedures, does not require appraisal or similar procedures. In contrast to US law, the Merger Directive provides for an ex ante appointment of an independent expert (appointed by a court or administrative authority) to review the valuation in the merger agreement,³¹ as well as liability both of the members of company management and administrative bodies and the expert in cases of "misconduct"³² (see Ventoruzzo, 2010, pp. 878-879). Member States are free to back up this ex ante mechanism with an ex post revaluation of shares,

²⁹ DGCL § 262(b).

³⁰ DGCL § 262(d)(1).

³¹ Directive 2011/35/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2011 concerning mergers of public limited liability companies (codification), 2011 O.J. L 110/1, art. 10 [hereinafter Merger Directive].

³² Merger Directive, art. 20, 21.

but they do not necessarily follow the US appraisal model. For example, Italian corporate law establishes withdrawal rights for shareholders under certain enumerated circumstances (such as changes to the articles or going private)³³ that do not necessarily apply in a merger (Ventoruzzo, 2010, p. 884). Under French law, a minority shareholder might either seek to have the merger voided by a court upon showing that it constitute an "abuse of majority," or by suing the majority shareholder or auditor for damages (Conac, 2013, pp. 230-231).

An example closer to the US appraisal model is the German *Spruchverfahren*, which applies to various types of structural changes under German company law, includes group restructurings, mergers, and freeze-out transactions (known as squeeze-outs in German). Interestingly, dissident shareholders only need to submit a formal objection in the shareholder meeting and vote against the merger if they intend to challenge the amount of *cash* compensation they are to receive. If they seek to challenge the share *exchange* ratio in a stock-for-stock merger, any shareholder can ask for a judicial reassessment. This includes even shareholders who voted in favor of the transaction. This policy choice is intended to avoid incentives for shareholders to vote against a merger only because they seek a revaluation of the exchange ratio (Kubis, 2015, \P 6).

³³ C.C. art. 2437, 2437 quater (It.).

³⁴ § 1 SPRUCHG (Ger.).

^{35 §§ 29, 207} UMWG (Ger.).

³⁶ §§ 15, 196 UMWG (Ger.).

³⁷ Shareholders have 3 months to submit a petition for revaluation. § 4 SPRUCHG (Ger.).

The German procedure has an *erga omnes* effect, i.e. all shareholders participate from a better compensation awarded to them by the court, regardless of whether they asked for a revaluation or not.³⁸ Arguably, it thus has effects comparable to a class action in the US (Krebs, 2012, p. 967).³⁹ However, the comparison to appraisal rights as such seems more adequate as the procedure does not permit plaintiffs to "block" a transaction with an injunction. A reform enacted in 2005⁴⁰ cut of the possibility for shareholders to seek the rescission of a merger based on an incorrect valuation if the appraisal procedure is available⁴¹ (Vermeulen and Zetzsche, 2010, p. 27; Ringe, 2015, p. 531 n.133). "Entrepreneurial" plaintiff lawyers do not appear to be as great an issue as elsewhere in the proceedings. The court is required to appoint a common representative for shareholders who were entitled to object but failed to do so.⁴² Typically, the appointee will be an investor protection organization (Krebs, 2012, p. 967). Nevertheless, due to their low cost and wide availability for shareholders.

3.4. Oppression and unfair prejudice claims

Finally, some jurisdictions provide for mechanisms of litigation that addresses "oppressive" conduct that may not explicitly violate the law, but the spirit of the law or contract underlying the corporation. Delaware does not provide for a statutory oppression remedy, but many other US states

³⁸ § 13 SPRUCHG (Ger.).

³⁹ The court has wide discretion to award litigation cost to the firm or to petitioners. § 15 SPRUCHG (Ger.).

⁴⁰ GESETZ ZUR UNTERNEHMENSINTEGRITÄT UND MODERNISIERUNG DES ANFECHTUNGSRECHTS [UMAG], September 22, 2005, BGBl. I at 2802.

⁴¹ § 243(4) AKTG (Ger.).

⁴² § 6 SPRUCHG (Ger.).

do. ⁴³ In these jurisdictions, courts typically have the discretion to dissolve the corporation if "those in control of the corporation" (i.e. directors or controlling shareholders) have acted "in a manner that is illegal, oppressive, of fraudulent." ⁴⁴ Often the right to petition for an involuntary dissolution on grounds of oppression is limited to shareholders holding a relatively high percentage of shares (e.g., 20 per cent in New York and 1/3 in California⁴⁵), thus rendering the mechanism useful basically only in deadlocked closely held corporations. The default remedy envisioned in US statutes is typically dissolution. While it is a drastic measure that could conceivably enhance a minority shareholder's bargaining power, its actual imposition is in the hands of a court that will likely hesitate to actually impose it except in the most unusual of circumstances. However, in recent decades a number of states have amended their oppression statutes to permit alternative remedies, particularly buyout of the minority, and some courts have asserted to equitable power to fashion appropriate remedies, including buyout (Moll, 2005, pp. 892-895; O'Neal and Thompson, 2016, §§ 9.36, 9.37).

In jurisdictions whose corporate law is derived from the English common law, including the UK, Australia, Canada, and India, what is called the "unfair prejudice remedy" (historically also called "oppression"⁴⁶) is often thought to be much more important than the derivative suit (for Canada, see, for instance, Dine and Cheffins, 1992, pp. 89-92; for the UK, see Ringe, 2017, p. 278).

⁴³ But see DGCL § 273 (dissolution following a deadlock between two shareholders owning 50 per cent each).

⁴⁴ RMBCA § 14.30(a)(2)(ii). See, e.g. NYBCL § 1104-a(a)(1); CAL. CORP. C. § 1800(b)(4).

⁴⁵ NYBCL § 1104-a(a); CAL. CORP. C. § 1800(a)(2).

⁴⁶ COMPANIES ACT 1948, s. 210 (UK).

In part, the reason is likely that English company law has historically limited derivative suits to a small set of circumstances. ⁴⁷ Minority shareholders could not normally bring a derivative suit against a board that had violated its duties without conferring an advantage to a controlling shareholders, given that majority rule would apply absent a conflict (Armour, 2009, p. 80). Derivative suits were therefore of relatively little use in public companies (without a controlling shareholder) (Armour, id.). At least previously, the unfair prejudice remedy appears to have been used somewhat more than the derivative suit even in public companies, although none of the reported suits were successful (Armour, id., at 83). In any event, while the limitations on derivative suits were somewhat liberalized in the Companies Act 2006⁴⁸, the unfair prejudice remedy⁴⁹ has generally remained the more popular mechanism. It benefits from its wide scope of application, ⁵⁰ which encompasses any action by those controlling the firm unfair to those not in control. The language of

-

It has also been held that while the petitioner needs to be member at the time of bringing the unfair prejudice petition, the petitioner may rely on events that occurred before such petitioner became a member (*Lloyd v Casey* (2002) 1 BCLC 454). There is also no requirement to be a minority shareholder in order to bring an unfair prejudice petition.

⁴⁷ Foss v. Harbottle, [1843] 67 E.R. 89. (Ch.).

⁴⁸ COMPANIES ACT (2006), s. 260-264 (UK).

⁴⁹ COMPANIES ACT (2006), s. 994-999 (UK). According to s. 994(1), "[a] member of a company may apply to the court by petition for an order under this Part on the ground (a) that the company's affairs are being or have been conducted in a manner that is unfairly prejudicial to the interests of members generally or of some part of its members (including at least himself), or (b) that an actual or proposed act or omission of the company (including an act or omission on its behalf) is or would be so prejudicial."

⁵⁰ COMPANIES ACT (2006), s. 994(1) (UK) provides that only a member of a company may bring an unfair prejudice petition. However, the standing to sue has been broadened by extending the concept of 'membership' to include (i) those to whom shares have been transferred but whose names have not been registered in the register of members (*Re Quickdrome Ltd* (1988) BCLC 370), (ii) those to whom shares have been transmitted by operation of law and whose names have not been registered in the register of members (s.112), and (iii) a person who is only a nominee shareholder (*Re Brightview Ltd* (2004) BCC 542). Although the petitioner must be a member of the company when the petition is presented, he may rely in support of the petition on events which occurred before he became a member.

the 2006 Companies Act⁵¹ clarified that an unfair prejudice can result from a single act or omission and does not necessarily require a sustained conduct or scheme. English courts have applied an objective test as to what is considered unfair, holding that "it is not necessary for the petitioner to show that the persons who have de facto control of the company have acted as they did in the conscious knowledge that this was unfair to the petitioner or that they were acting in bad faith; the test, I think, is whether a reasonable bystander observing the consequences of their conduct, would regard it as having unfairly prejudiced the petitioner's interests."⁵² The test is typically whether the "legitimate expectations" of the minority shareholder have been disappointed.⁵³ This could be because of an informal agreement by the parties outside the company's articles.

Unlike the oppression remedy in a few US states⁵⁴, in the UK the unfair prejudice remedy does not require plaintiffs to surpass an ownership threshold, and even a majority shareholder can bring it if the firm is controlled by a minority.⁵⁵ The courts have permitted unfair prejudice actions even where in principle derivative suits would have been available (Davies and Worthington, 2016, ¶ 20-14). Another advantage is the court's wide discretion regarding remedies; it has been held that

-

⁵¹ COMPANIES ACT (2006), s. 994(1)(b) (UK).

⁵² See Re Bovey Hotel Ventures Ltd unreported but quoted and followed in RA Noble & Sons Clothing Ltd (1983) BCLC 273 at 290.

⁵³ E.g., O'Neill v. Philipps [1999] 2 BCLC 1; see also Davies and Worthington (2016), ¶ 20-8.

⁵⁴ E.g., NYBCL § 1104-a(a) (requiring a 20 per cent minority).

⁵⁵ Re Ravenhart Service (Holdings) Ltd (2004) 2 BCLC 376. However, the court will not grant a majority shareholder any remedy if the unfair prejudice can be avoided by exercising other rights available to such majority shareholder (Re Baltic Real Estate (1993) BCLC 503). Further, the prejudicial conduct need not affect the interests of the petitioners in their capacity as members. An unfair prejudice petition may be brought so long as the prejudicial conduct is sufficiently connected with membership. Accordingly, exclusion of a member from the board of directors was held to amount to an unfair prejudice (Re a Company (1986) BCLC 376).

an appropriate remedy is one that would "put right and cure for the future the unfair prejudice which the petitioner has suffered at the hands of the other shareholders of the company,"56 and the Companies Act 2006 now provides that the court may make "such order as it thinks fit for giving relief in respect of the matters complained of." ⁵⁷ In particular, the court's order may also (a) regulate the conduct of the company's affairs in the future, (b) require the company to refrain from doing or continuing an act complained of, or to do an act that the petitioner has complained it has omitted to do, (c) authorize civil proceedings to be brought in the name and on behalf of the company by such person or persons and on such terms as the court may direct, (d) require the company not to make any, or any specified, alterations in its articles without the leave of the court, or (e) provide for the purchase of the shares of any members of the company by other members or by the company itself and, in the case of a purchase by the company itself, the reduction of the company's capital accordingly. 58 Moreover, the court's wide discretion sometimes may include monetary payments as well as mandatory buyouts of the aggrieved shareholder, which is used most frequently in practice (Davies and Worthington, 2016, ¶ 20-19; for Australia, see Koh, 2015, p. 388). Maybe most importantly, bringing an unfair prejudice claim allows a plaintiff shareholder to avoid the procedural requirements for a derivative claim (Keay, 2016, p.60). Since the remedy can be either direct or derivative, the unfair prejudice mechanism appears to have left little space for the derivative actions in the UK. In practice, unfair prejudice have become an all-purpose instrument in privately held firms, whereas courts have not traditionally been receptive to admitting them in publicly

⁵⁶ Re Bird Precision Bellows Ltd (1986) Ch 658 at 669.

⁵⁷ COMPANIES ACT (2006), s. 996(1) (UK).

⁵⁸ COMPANIES ACT (2006), s. 996(2) (UK).

traded companies (Armour et al., 2009, pp. 695-696; *see also* Cheffins & Black 2006, pp. 1409-1410).

Some scholars claim an influence of the UK model on Chinese company law in this respect (see Hawes et al., 2015, pp. 560-563). Article 20.2 of the Chinese Companies Law laconically provides that shareholders abusing their rights shall be liable to the company or other shareholders in accordance with the law. An empirical analysis of the cases under this "oppression" remedy has revealed that it is used as a catch-all mechanism by the courts that use it as the basis for a variety of remedies (Hawes et al., 2015, pp. 569-570). In contrast to the usual structure of the unfair prejudice mechanism under English and similar laws, the suit can be brought both by minority shareholder and by the company itself (if it has been harmed). However, the harm must have been caused by a shareholder (and not, for instance, by a director) (Hawes et al., 2015, pp. 581-584).

Another mechanism that shares some features with oppression remedies is the "inquiry proceeding" in the Netherlands although it might also be characterized as judicial supervision mechanism. Under Dutch law – which does not provide for a derivative suit – minority shareholders can petition the enterprise chamber (*ondernemingskamer*), a division of the Amsterdam Court of Appeals, to launch an investigation into the company's management or financial statements.⁵⁹ Shareholders must hold at least €225,000 or a 10% share, but the advocate general or a labor union can also bring a petition⁶⁰ (see generally Schuit et al., 2002, p. 157; Vermeulen and Zetzsche, 2010, p.

⁵⁹ BW art. 2:345(1), art. 2:447 (Neth.).

⁶⁰ BW art. 2:345(2), 2:346(b), 2:347 (Neth.).

16; de Dier, 2013, pp. 493-495). The enterprise chamber will then determine whether any misconduct occurred. One major featured share with the unfair prejudice remedy is the flexibility of remedies: the court can decide to dismiss board members or appoint temporary ones, rescind share-holder resolutions, or even dissolve the company⁶¹ (see Schuit et al., 2002, p. 159). In spite of the high ownership threshold for shareholders the mechanism is understood to be effective and widely used (see Vermeulen and Zetzsche, 2010, p. 17).

4. Common policy issues

4.1. Institutional preconditions for effective shareholder litigation

Across jurisdictions, we can observe a tradeoff between litigation as an effective enforcement mechanism for corporate law, and their potential for rent-seeking conduct by entrepreneurial plaintiffs and their even more entrepreneurial lawyers. There are a number of preconditions for a particular type of lawsuit to become a frequently used enforcement mechanism, which can be put into three categories. First, shareholders must have *standing to sue* or be able to obtain standing to sue collectively, or use a form of lawsuit that has collective effects, without facing significant hurdles, against a defendant to whom the suit matters. Second, the *allocation of cost and litigation risk* – both at the ex ante and ex post stages, must not set strong incentives against shareholder litigation.

-

⁶¹ BW art. 2:356 (Neth.).

Third, shareholders must be able to obtain the *information* needed to bring a suit in order to surmount the applicable evidentiary standard (which may vary by issue or form of litigation).⁶²

4.1.1. Standing to sue

Where shareholder derivative litigation and similar mechanisms to enforce directors' liability are concerned, US law stands out in that it is very liberal with respect to standing. ⁶³ In public limited companies, many civil law jurisdictions require a minimum percentage of share ownership of those bringing or otherwise initiating the lawsuit (typically ranging between 1 per cent and 10 per cent). ⁶⁴ The intuition behind these thresholds seems sound at first glance, since a shareholder holding only a minute stake in the firm likely only has an incentive to sue if his interest in the suit is a personal rather than a collective one (for example, because it enables him to "blackmail" firm into a lucrative settlement). Contrary to this view, Grechenig and Sekyra (2011) show in a mathematical model that with an ownership threshold, potential defendant managers only need to discourage large shareholders above the threshold from suing, which is considerably easier and may mean that corporate law is not enforced even if a suit would be socially desirable. While in some

⁶² Gelter (2012) describes these factors as jointly constituting the "Anna Karenina Principle" of shareholder litigation: all of these factors are necessary conditions for shareholder litigation to emerge, but none of them by itself appears to be sufficient.

 $^{^{63}}$ In some states, the plaintiff may be required to post a bond, which can be a severe limitation. *E.g.*, CAL. CORP. CODE $\S 800(c)$.

⁶⁴ Gerner-Beuerle & Schuster (2014), p. 217 provide a recent overview of the EU member states, and report that Belgium, the Czech Republic, Germany, Italy, and Portugal require an ownership stake of more than one share, but less than 5 per cent. Bulgaria, Hungary, Latvia, Romania, Slovakia, and Spain range from 5 per cent to less than 10 per cent, whereas Austria, Croatia, Denmark, Finland, Greece, Slovakia, and Sweden require 10 per cent or more. Estonia, Luxembourg, and the Netherlands do not have a derivative suit, whereas in Cyprus, France, Ireland, Lithuania, Poland, and the UK a single share suffice to bring a suit.

China establishes no threshold in the LLC, but requires that plaintiffs have held 1 per cent for more than 180 days in a Joint Stock Limited Company (Huang, 2012, p. 623).

cases it may be desirable to disallow likely non-meritorious litigation by small shareholders, in other cases only large or controlling shareholders complicit in wrongdoing will have standing to sue because of the minimum threshold. Notably, in the UK, France, Switzerland, and Japan there is no ownership threshold for derivative suits, but in the first three countries these remain uncommon. Korea has a very low threshold of 0.01 per cent in publicly traded firms, but this is still considered a major impediment to derivative litigation (Kim and Choi, 2016, p. 241). In China, the 1 per cent threshold is seen as a reason why as of 2011, only one derivative suit had been filed against a publicly traded firm (Zhang, 2011, p. 193).

Another aspect of standing is having standing against the right kind of plaintiff. With the exception of the US, where a derivative suit can be brought to enforce any "right of the corporation," other jurisdictions (including the UK) tend to be more restrictive. Typically, derivative suits and similar mechanisms are established in the respective corporate law to enforce *liability claims against directors* only. This means, first, that only liability claims are possible, but not normally injunctions. Second, derivative suits sometimes cannot be used as a mechanism to discipline controlling shareholders (for China, see Huang, 2010, p. 253; *but see* Huang, 2012, p. 623,

⁶⁵ FED. R. CIV. P. 23.1(a).

⁶⁶ See, e.g., Companies Act (2006), s. 260(3) (UK): "A derivative claim under this Chapter may be brought only in respect of a cause of action arising from an actual or proposed act or omission involving negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust by a director of the company. The cause of action may be against the director or another person (or both)."

The second sentence may permits impleading another person (for example, a third party who improperly received funds because of the directors' wrongdoing, but does not include cases where a controlling shareholder's fiduciary duty is at issue). Civil law jurisdictions often do not permit this extension.

regarding "any other person"; for Japan, see Oda, 2011, p. 342; for European jurisdictions, see Gelter, 2012, pp. 875-880). There are exceptions to this, such holding controlling shareholders accountable for violations of directors' duties they were involved in, qualifying controlling shareholders as de facto or shadow directors (for Italy, see Galgano and Genghini, 2006, p. 483; for France, see Cozian et al., 2009, ¶ 262; for the UK, see Companies Act § 260(5)(b)), as well as the German law of corporate groups, which explicitly permits a derivative suit against the "controlling undertaking." However, there are no known cases where such a suit has been brought (in spite of the absence of a percentage standing threshold in this special case) (Ulmer, 1999, p. 300; Hirt, 2005, pp. 191-192).

In the US, the main hurdle for a potential plaintiff to overcome to establish standing in a derivative suit is the demand requirement, which seeks to ensure that directors are given the opportunity to pursue the claim before the ability to sue devolves to shareholders. This mechanism has become a model for other jurisdictions. Under the UK Companies Act of 2006, a shareholder must seek the court's leave to pursue a derivative claim. Interestingly, the court must consider, among other things, whether a person seeking to promote the best interests of the company would bring the suit, and whether the plaintiff is acting in good faith; in other words, the court will to some

⁶⁷ AKTG §§ 317(4), 309(4) (Ger.).

⁶⁸ COMPANIES ACT s. 261 (UK).

⁶⁹ COMPANIES ACT s. 263(2)(a) (UK).

⁷⁰ COMPANIES ACT s. 263(3)(a) (UK).

extent have to evaluate whether the suit is in the interest of the company (Paul, 2010, p. 89). Similarly, when Germany reformed its derivative suit mechanism in 2005, it created a "lawsuit admission procedure" that requires plaintiffs to show that they took steps to induce that directors bring the suit. A major problem under German law is that the plaintiff has to establish a "gross violations of the law or the charter" and the court would have to determine whether the suit is in the best interests of the corporation (Saenger, 2015, p. 26). In China, plaintiffs must either permit the board 30 days to consider the suit, or establish that the delay would result in irreparable harm to the company (Huang, 2012, pp. 624, 638). Similarly, in Japan shareholders can bring a suit after waiting for 60 days after filing a request with the company without having to ask for the court's leave to do so (Oda, 2011, p. 343). By contrast, French law does not have a demand requirement for its derivative suit (De Wulf, 2010, p. 1558).

Note that these standing requirements seem to be mainly an issue in derivative suits and similar mechanisms, but not in other forms of shareholder litigation. Most likely the reason is the particular salience of the suspicion raised by a suit by a shareholder on behalf of a corporation from which she will only draw a minute proportionate benefit. There are typically fewer limitations on standing for direct suits and for rescission suits challenging the validity of decisions of the shareholder meeting, given that these tend to remedy harm inflicted on shareholders directly.

⁷¹ AKTG § 148(1) Nr. 2 (Ger.).

4.1.2. Allocation of cost and risk

For shareholder litigation to be viable, the allocation of cost and litigation risk must set the right incentives, both at the ex ante and ex post stages. At the *ex ante* stage, up front court fees may deter shareholder litigation, in particular if these amounts are measured as percentages of the amount in dispute. This can be a strongly deterrent factor, especially if it is measured as a percentage of the harm to the company (for China, see Huang, 2012, p. 651). Arguably, a court decision that reduced the filing fee for derivative suits from a percentage to a modest flat fee opened the floodgates for derivative litigation in Japan in 1993 (West, 1993, pp. 1463-1465; West, 2001, p. 353; Osugi, 2016, p. 53; *contra* Puchniak and Nakahigashi, 2012, pp. 48-50, 54-56).

A "security for expense statute," which permits the corporation or other defendants to request that plaintiffs that do not exceed a minimum ownership threshold (usually 5 per cent) post security for litigation expenses has a similar effect. At present, nine states in the US have such a requirement for derivative suits (DeMott, 2016, ¶ 3.02). The Japanese law pursues similar objectives when it gives the court the discretion to require derivative plaintiffs to provide a significant deposit to cover the defendant's cost, provided that it believes that the plaintiff acted in bad faith (Oda, 2011, p. 344; Osugi, 2016, p. 53). However, ex ante fees cannot alone explain the pervasiveness of

-

⁷² These states are Alaska, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Nevada, New Jersey, New York, North Dakota, and Pennsylvania. Many states also have general "security for costs statutes" applicable to all suits, but limited to only certain classes of expenses such as non-residents (DeMott, 2016, ¶ 3.03).

a particular type of litigation. For example, in Germany ex ante fees for derivative suits and rescission lawsuits are similar (several thousand euros), and yet these two types of suits differs vastly in prevalence (Gelter, 2012, pp. 869, 887).

The ex post stage of litigation also plays a significant role, in particular whether the "loser pays" or "English" rule creates a deterrent against lawsuits with uncertain prospects, 73 as well as the availability of some form of contingency payment for lawyers (e.g., Keay, 2016, p. 44). Both UK and German law, however, allow the court to shift the plaintiff's expenses in a derivative suit to the corporation in an unsuccessful suit under certain circumstances (Paul, 2010, pp. 96, 101-102, 110). In any event, the incentive effects of the "English rule" should not be overestimated, however, since in many jurisdictions, the reimbursement of the plaintiff is limited to court fees or to attorney fees according to the bar association's official rate (see Gelter, 2012, pp. 862-866; for the UK, see Huang, 2010, p. 254, reporting "between two-thirds and four-fifth of the actual rate"). In some jurisdictions only court fees but not lawyers' fees are typically reimbursed (for France, see Gelter, 2012, p. 864; for China, see Huang, 2012, p. 641). Some form of contingency fee or conditional fee system likely plays a role in incentivizing some lawsuits; apparently conditional fees arrangements contributed to the rise of derivative litigation in Japan in the 1990s (West, 2001, p. 369-370). In the UK, conditional fees are limited to 100 per cent of hourly fees, which greatly attenuates the effectiveness of the mechanism in creating incentives; it is thus not a strong substitute for contingency fees (Cheffins and Black, 2006, p. 1405). However, as the example of German rescission

⁷³ On the use of the "American rule" in China, see Clarke (2009), pp. 253-255.

lawsuits shows, contingency or conditional fees are clearly not a necessary condition for lawsuits to arise, even if they may be a strong contributing factor.

The allocation of cost and risk also entails the necessity of collective effect. To have an incentive to sue, shareholders would normally need a strong personal benefit from successful litigation that outweighs the cost. This is normally the case in any type of suit in closely-held firms, but often not in publicly traded firms. US law overcomes this obstacle both in the derivative suit and in direct (class action) suit by providing powerful incentives for plaintiff lawyers. Thus, the collective benefits of the suit are achieved by concentrating high-powered incentives in a single party. By contrast, appraisal rights were traditionally thought not to be particularly effective because the collective effect was absent, as shareholders had to opt into them. Incentives only came into being with appraisal arbitrage (Korsmo and Myers, 2015). Rescission lawsuits in Continental European jurisdictions automatically have a collective effect as to their results; the cost-sharing problem is mitigated by the fact that the cost for the plaintiffs are relatively limited.

4.1.3. Access to information

Another necessary element of an effective litigation system is a solution for the information asymmetry between the parties. However, this is a much more significant issue for some types of suits than for others. For example, it is highly significant for derivative actions based on allegations of violations of fiduciary duties, where plaintiffs might have to establish wrongdoing by directors. It is far less important for lawsuits challenging the validity of shareholder decisions, since much of litigation of this type revolves around violations of procedural and information requirements.

In suits alleging wrongdoing by managers or directors, the company will typically have records that might substantiate the suit to which plaintiffs usually will not have access. US law

addresses this issue by providing pre-trial discovery, which requires that the parties disclose pertinent information to each other⁷⁴ (for a comparison, see generally Stürner, 2001).⁷⁵ Moreover, the nuisance value of a suit is greater if discovery is available (Osugi, 2016, p. 55). Thus, in the US the struggle between the parties to pre-trial motions to dismiss often takes place before discovery, particularly in the context of the demand requirement for derivative suits (on the significance in the context of corporate governance, see Gorga and Halberstam, 2014). One possible functional equivalent in several European jurisdictions is the "special audit," which a minority of shareholders exceeding a particular percentage may be able to initiate (see Paul, 2010, pp. 103-105; Gelter, 2012, pp. 873-875). It is generally not thought to be widely used or effective. A more realistic functional equivalent could be a shift in the burden of proof on directors in a number of jurisdictions, specifically Germany, Austria, the Czech Republic, Italy, Slovenia and Portugal (Gerner-Beuerle and Schuster, 2014, p. 203). In this case, the defendant director or manager has to show that she acted with due care. Note that this shift does not, however, extend to issues of whether a decision was subject to a conflict of interest. Moreover, in Germany, for example, the effect of this is mitigated by the primary hurdle in the "lawsuit admission procedure" for the plaintiff to establish facts indicating dishonesty or serious violations of the law or the corporate charter. ⁷⁶ Paradoxically, plaintiffs must first surpass this higher hurdle to obtain standing before benefiting from the shift in the burden of proof.

⁷⁴ FED. R. CIV. P. 26.

⁷⁵ Regarding more limited pre-action disclosure in the UK, see Paul (2010), pp. 94-96.

⁷⁶ AKTG § 148(1) Nr. 3 (Ger.).

In some other jurisdictions, the lack of discovery procedures may be circumvented by plaintiffs making use of information brought to light in public enforcement actions. West (2001, p. 380-381) reports that this is a significant factor in Japan, and it may also play a role in jurisdictions such as France, where minority shareholders can initiate criminal enforcement actions to obtain damages (Conac et al., 2007, p. 518). Another example in this category are likely securities lawsuits in China, which have an administrative or criminal sanction as a prerequisite (Huang, 2013, p. 764).

4.2. German rescission lawsuits as an example

Germany provides an example for a homegrown style of shareholder litigation that in some ways resembles, but in other ways differs, from litigation in the US. While shareholder derivative suits have remained relatively uncommon in spite of the 2005 liberalization, shareholder litigation has focused on the area of rescission lawsuits, which are discussed frequently both in legal scholarship and in the business press. It is frequently claimed that these types of lawsuits are dominated by a group often described as "professional plaintiffs" (Berufskläger) or "predatory shareholders" (räuberische Aktionäre) that bring lawsuits for personal gain. The number of lawsuits is considerable. Vermeulen and Zetzsche (2010, pp. 24-25) report that 135, 164, and 163 suits were brought in the years 2006 through 2008, respectively. Given that 752 companies were traded in regulated markets at that time, and about 450 in non-regulated markets, this implies that about 12 per cent of publicly traded firms were hit with a suit each year. Baums et al. (2011, p. 2331) estimate that there were 580 suits in publicly traded firms between 1 July 2007 and 30 July 2011. Most suits were brought by a small circle of repeat plaintiffs. The most active individual, Klaus Zapf, brought 32 suits in 27 companies. The most litigious legal entity, Pomoschnik Rabotajet GmbH, which brought 42 suits against 37 firms, was also controlled by Mr. Zapf (Baums et al., 2011, p. 2334). Baums et

al. (2011) reviewed the types of shareholder decisions challenged by the plaintiffs, as shown in Table 1.

Type of resolution challenged	Lawsuits
Discharge of supervisory board or its members	83
Discharge of management board or its members	73
Amendment of articles	44
Election of supervisory board members	40
Repurchase of own shares	33
Election of the auditor	30
Use of profits (dividend or retention)	29
Authorized capital	28
Squeeze out	27
Approval of group integration	25
Capital increase	25
Issuance of (certain) financial instruments	14
Confirmation of prior shareholder decisions	12
Capital reduction	12
Creation or elimination of conditional capital	12
Mergers, transformations, divisions	12

Table 1: Types of shareholders resolution challenged (only showing types with 10 or more law suits) [Source: Baums et al., 2011, p. 2337]

A number of the top positions in the table are taken by lawsuits against routine resolutions, such as elections and discharge resolutions, where suits are mainly an unwelcome distraction that may inflict reputational harm on the company. However, as with merger litigation in the US, there was considerable concern that a pending lawsuits would impede important transactions (such as a merger or issuance of new shares). This may create allegations of shareholders bringing badly founded suits in order to coerce a corporation into a financial lucrative settlement to let the transaction proceed. Lawsuits against capital increases and reductions and related changes to the company's capital structure are obviously more bothersome, as they can in principle delay or disrupt important transactions, thus creating bargaining power for plaintiffs. The same may apply to mergers and similar transactions, which also figure on the list. Most academic commentators believe

that much of this litigation, which became common in the late 1970s (Hopt, 1997, p. 267), was not meritorious (e.g., Vermeulen and Zetzsche, 2010, p. 60). Baums et al.'s empirical study appears to confirm that this is indeed a significant problem, arguably because many cases settle. In the 2007-2011 time window, 45 per cent of cases settled, but 72 per cent when one of the known repeat plaintiffs was involved (Baums et al., 2011, p. 2343). This appears to be particularly often the case when the suit is brought against an important transaction such as a capital increase or merger (Baums et al., 2011, p. 2344). The provisions of the settlements vary, but besides, for instance, increased information disclosures or improved compensation for shareholders in a freeze out transaction, settlements appear often to include agreements about compensation of the plaintiffs' expenses. The authors suggest that there are strong hints that not only lawyers, but plaintiffs themselves received significant payments (Baums et al., 2011, p. 2347).

Given that a delay of a significant transaction can inflict harm on the company, in a few cases plaintiffs have been held liable for damages to the company. In the *Nanoinvests* case, ⁷⁷ Mr. Zapf was held liable for damages caused by frivolous litigation. Allegedly, he had used the threat to bring a suit to coerce the company to assign to him (and to a handful of other shareholders that he represented) a vastly disproportionate number of preemptive rights in the company's shares.

Given that the plaintiff's actions are rarely as blatantly abusive and easy to prove as they were in this case, liability lawsuits were not considered a solution for the "predatory shareholders"

⁷⁷ OLG Frankfurt, January 13, 2009, 5 U 183/07, review denied by BGH, August 10, 2010, VI ZR 47/09; *but see* OLG Hamburg, October 20, 2010, 11 U 127/09 (denying liability of a plaintiff in an allegedly abusive suit to an individual who was expected to become a shareholder of the corporation as a result of the transaction).

problem. To reduce plaintiffs' ability to coerce the company into a settlement, a reform enacted in 2005⁷⁸ created a "clearance procedure" (Freigabeverfahren) for the increase and reduction of capital and group integration agreements. In these cases, the corporation may ask the court to permit the registration of the transaction while the suit is pending, thus relegating the plaintiff to damages in the case of success. The 2005 law permitted a "clearance" only where the suit appeared to be "obviously without foundation" and the advantages of letting the transaction go forward outweighed the disadvantages (e.g., Naruisch and Liepe, 2007, pp. 231-232). A 2009 reform⁷⁹ expanded the procedure further and permits a clearance even if the suit was not "obviously without foundation" when the plaintiff holds less than EUR 1000 of the nominal value of the firm's stock, but also in cases where the court finds that harm from the delay outweighs disadvantages to the shareholder (see Krebs, 2012, pp. 966-967; Ringe, 2015, p. 506). In Baums et al.'s (2011, p. 2349) study, 48 out of 61 clearance requests were approved by the courts. According to Bayer and Hoffmann (2013), the 2009 reform helped to reduce the number of defendant firms considerably (down to 55 in 2012), and had a particularly strong impact on the activities of repeat plaintiffs, even if the fundamental problem has not been completely resolved (see also Bayer and Hoffmann, 2014).

For the objective of the chapter, there are three key takeaways. First, even if rescission lawsuits are not formally equivalent to (direct) shareholder class actions in the United States, they often perform a similar function in policing controlling shareholders' decisions that might dilute

⁷⁸ AKTG § 246a (Ger.), introduced by GESETZ ZUR UNTERNEHMENSINTEGRITÄT UND MODERNISIERUNG DES ANFECHTUNGSRECHTS [UMAG], September 22, 2005, BGBl. I at 2802.

⁷⁹ AKTG § 246a (Ger.), as amended by GESETZ ZUR UMSETZUNG DER AKTIONÄRSRECHTERICHTLINIE [ARUG], July 30, 2009, BGBl. I at 2479.

the minority's stake. At the same time, they raise similar problems by permitting non-meritorious suits to go forward and creating the possibility for plaintiffs to coerce the corporation into a settlement.

Second, we can see that rescission lawsuits are widespread because the preconditions for shareholder litigation outlined in section 4.1 are met (whereas they are not for derivative suits in Germany). Rescission lawsuits have liberal standing rules and do not require a minimum ownership threshold. Moreover, the allocation of cost and risk is favorable for plaintiff shareholders. The amount in dispute used to measure court fees is normally limited to the lower of 10 per cent of the corporation's nominal capital and \cup 00,000,\frac{80}{200}\$ which keeps the risk for plaintiffs within bounds.\frac{81}{200}\$ Finally, suits of this type tend to be easier to bring because they often are based on allegations of inadequate information of shareholders rather than violations of fiduciary duties. Hence, plaintiffs do not need to be privy to internal information of the company to establish a colorable claim (compare for Spain Sáez and Riaño, 2013, p. 367).\frac{82}{200}\$

Third, it is difficult to set up a legal regime that maintains incentives for meritorious suits while eliminating those for abusive ones. Arguably, the discretion granted to the court in 2009 reform to weigh the interests affected by the suit against each other does just that, especially because the clearance procedure permits suits to go forward but eliminates plaintiffs leverage over the company. In general, it is hard to determine to what extent high-powered incentives to bring

⁸⁰ AKTG § 247(1) (Ger.).

⁸¹ Baums (2000), p. 296 therefore suggests that only "occasional," but not "professional," plaintiffs will be deterred by cost risk.

⁸² In fact, it is sometimes alleged that plaintiffs deliberately overuse shareholder rights in the annual meeting in order to provoke violations of formal requirements (Bayer, 2013, pp. 92-93).

suits that are potentially not meritorious are generally necessary to maintain incentives to sue at all, which in turn will create incentives to comply with the law. In the German case, however, most rescission suits relate mainly to procedural and disclosure requirements and therefore likely do little to police firm's and controlling shareholders' conduct.

5. Conclusion

The chapter has surveyed functionally equivalent shareholder litigation mechanisms to the derivative and direct suits familiar from US corporate law. Overall, we can see that in the UK, and to some extent in other jurisdictions influenced by the UK, the unfair prejudice remedy is used as an all-purpose mechanism for shareholder grievances, especially in privately held firms. In some civil law jurisdictions, lawsuits challenging the validity of shareholder resolutions are particularly important, given the types of issues that are subject to a shareholder vote. At least in those areas, it is safe to say that, for example, German corporate law is certainly not underenforced, even if these lawsuits have given rise to a problematic group of "entrepreneurial" plaintiff shareholders that arguably often attempt to coax corporations into settlements when planning significant transactions. As in the United States, it has proven difficult to find the right balance between ensuring the appropriate level of enforcement and preventing nuisance litigation that distracts from gainful economic activity and sometimes entail costly buyouts of litigants.

Bibliography

• Armour, John (2009): "Enforcement Strategies in UK Corporate Governance", in *Rationality in Corporate Law: Essays in Honor of DD Prentice* (Oxford: Hart Publishing; John Armour & Jennifer Payne eds. 2009), pp. 71-119.

- Armour, John, Black, Bernard, Cheffins, Brian & Nolan, Richard (2009): "Private Enforcement of Corporate Law: An Empirical Comparison of the United Kingdom and the United States", *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies 6*, pp. 687-722.
- Bachmann, Gregor, Eidenmüller, Horst, Engert, Andreas, Fleischer, Holger, & Schön, Wolfgang (2014): *Regulating the Closed Corporation* (Berlin: De Gruyter).
- Baum, Harald & Puchniak, Dan W. (2012): "The derivative action: an economic, historical and practice-oriented approach", in *The Derivative Action in Asia* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; Dan W. Puchniak, Harald Baum & Michael Ewing-Chow eds.), pp. 1-89.
- Baums, Theodor (2000): "Die Prozesskosten der aktienrechtlichen Anfechtungsklage", in *Fest-schrift für Marcus Lutter zum 70. Geburtstag* (Köln: Verlag Dr. Otto Schmidt: Uwe H. Schneider, Peter Hommelhoff, Karsten Schmidt, Wolfram Timm, Barbara Grunewald & Tim Drygala eds.), pp 283-299.
- Baums, Theodor, Drinhausen, Florian & Keinath, Astrid (2011): "Anfechtungsklagen und Freigabeverfahren. Eine empirische Studie", *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsrecht (ZIP) 32*, pp. 2329-2352.
- Bayer, Walter (2013): "Das Freigabeverfahren gem. § 246a AktG idF ARUG als Instrument zur Bekämpfung räuberischer Aktionäre", in *Festschrift für Michael Hoffmann-Becking zum 70. Geburtstag* (München: Verlag C.H. Beck), pp. 91-123.
- Bayer, Walter & Hoffmann, Thomas (2013): "Berufskläger' in der aktuellen rechtspolitischen Diskussion", *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsrecht 34*, pp. 1193-1204.
- Bayer, Walter & Hoffmann, Thomas (2014): "Fünf Jahre ARUG: Rückblick und Ausblick", *Die Aktiengesellschaft 35*, pp. R283-R286.
- Becht, Marco & Roëll, Alisa (1999): "Blockholdings in Europe: An International Comparison" *European Economic Review 43*, pp. 1049-1056.
- Berle, Adolphe A. Jr. & Means, Gardiner (1932): *The Modern Corporation and Private Property* (New York: Macmillan).
- Cabrelli, David (2013): "Shareholders' Rights and Litigation", in *Comparative Company Law*. *A Case-Based Approach* (Oxford: Hart Publishing; Mathias Siems & David Cabrelli eds.), pp. 387-356
- Cheffins, Brian R. & Black, Bernard S. (2006), "Outside Director Liability Across Countries", *Texas Law Review 84*, pp. 1385-1480.
- Clarke, Donald C. (2009): "The Private Attorney-General in China: Potentials and Pitfalls", Washington University Global Studies Law Review 8, pp. 241-255.

- Coffee, John C. Jr. (1986): "Understanding the Plaintiff's Attorney: The Implications of Economic Theory for Private Enforcement of Law through Class and Derivative Actions", *Columbia Law Review* 86, pp. 669-727.
- Conac, Pierre-Henri (2013): "Shareholders and Shareholder Law", in *Comparative Company Law. A Case-Based Approach* (Oxford: Hart Publishing; Mathias Siems & David Cabrelli eds.), pp. 227-257.
- Conac, Pierre-Henri, Enriques, Luca & Gelter, Martin (2007): "Constraining Dominant Shareholders' Self-Dealing: The Legal Framework in France, Germany, and Italy", *European Company and Financial Law Review*, pp. 491-528.
- Cozian, Maurice, Viandier, Alain & Deboissy, Florence (2009): *Droit des Sociétés* (22nd ed. 2009)
- Davies, Paul L. & Worthington, Sarah (2016): *Gower's Principles of Modern Company Law* (London: Sweet & Maxwell, 10th ed.).
- De Dier, Stijn (2013): "Friends with Benefits? A Comparative View on Legal Standing to Challenge Board Decisions", *European Company and Financial Law Review*, pp. 461-505.
- DeMott, Deborah A. (2016): *Shareholder Derivative Actions: Law and Practice* (Thomson-Reuters, Update 2016).
- De Wulf, Hans (2010): "Direct shareholder suits for damages based on reflective loss", in *Fest-schrift für Klaus Hopt zum 70. Geburtstag am 24. August 2010* (Berlin: De Gruyter; Stefan Grundmann et al. eds.).
- Dine, Janet M. & Cheffins, Brian R. (1992): "Shareholder remedies: lessons from Canada", *Company Lawyer 13*, pp. 89-95.
- Enriques, Luca (2009): "Corporate Governance Reforms in Italy: What Has Been Done and What Is Left to Do", *European Business Organization Law Review 10*, pp. 477-513.
- Enriques, Luca, Hertig, Gerard, Kanda, Hideki & Pargendler, Mariana (2017): "Related-Party Transactions", in *The Anatomy of Corporate Law* (Oxford: Oxford University Press; Reinier Kraakman et al.).
- Fisch, Jill E., Griffith, Sean J. & Davidoff Solomon, Steven (2014): "Confronting the Peppercorn Settlement in Merger Litigation: An Empirical Analysis and a Proposal for Reform", *Texas Law Review 93*, pp. 557-624.
- Fleischer, Holger (2012): "Reformperspektiven des aktienrechtlichen Beschlussmangelrechts im Lichte der Rechtsvergleichung", *Die Aktiengesellschaft 57*, pp. 765-783.

- Galgano, Francesco & Genghini, Riccardo (2006): *Il Nuovo Diritto Societario* (vol. 1, 2006).
- Gelter, Martin (2012): "Why do Shareholder Derivative Suits remain rare in Continental Europe?" *Brooklyn Journal of International Law 37*, pp. 843-892.
- Germain, Michel (2002): "Les droits des minoritaires (droit français des sociétés)", *Revue Internationale de Droit Comparé 54*, pp. 401-413.
- Gerner-Beuerle, Carsten & Schuster, Edmung-Philipp (2014): "The Evolving Structure of Directors' Duties in Europe", *European Business Organization Law Review 15*, pp. 191-233.
- Gilson, Ronald J. & Gordon, Jeffrey N. (2013): "The Agency Costs of Agency Capitalism: Activist Investors and the Revaluation of Governance Rights", *Columbia Law Review 113*, pp. 863-927
- Gorga, Érica & Halberstam, Michael (2014): "Litigation Discovery and Corporate Governance: The Missing Story about the 'Genius of American Corporate Law'", *Emory Law Journal 63*, pp. 1383-1498.
- Grechenig, Kristoffel & Sekyra, Michael (2011): "No derivative shareholder suits in Europe: A model of percentage limits and collusion", *International Review of Law and Economics 31*, pp. 16-20.
- Hawes, Colin, Lau, Alex K.L. & Young, Angus (2015): "The Chinese 'Oppression' Remedy: Creative Interpretations of Company Law by Chinese Courts, *American Journal of Comparative Law 63*, pp. 559-600.
- Hellgardt, Alexander & Hoger, Andreas (2011): "Transatlantische Konvergenz der Aktionärsrechte", Zeitschrift für Unternehmens- und Gesellschaftsrecht, pp. 38-82.
- Hirt, Hans C. (2005): "The Enforcement of Directors' Duties pursuant to the Aktiengesetz: Present Law and Reform in Germany: Part 1", *International Company and Commercial Law Review 16*, pp. 179-192.
- Hopt, Klaus J. (1997): "Shareholder Rights and Remedies: A View from Germany and the Continent", *Company Financial and Insolvency Law Review 1*, pp. 261-283.
- Huang, Hui (2012): "Shareholder Derivative Litigation in China: Empirical Findings and Comparative Analysis", *Banking and Finance Review 27*, pp. 619-654
- Huang, Robin Hui (2013): "Private Enforcement of Securities Law in China: A Ten-Year Retrospective and Empirical Assessment", *American Journal of Comparative Law 61*, pp. 757-798.

- Huang, Xiao (2010): "Derivative Actions in China: Law and Practice", *Cambridge Student Law Review*, pp.246-258.
- Issacharoff, Samuel & Miller, Geoffrey P. (2009): "Will Aggregate Litigation Come to Europe?" *Vanderbilt Law Review* 62, pp. 179-210.
- Keay, Andrew (2016): "Assessing and rethinking the statutory scheme for derivative actions under the Companies Act 2006", *Journal of Corporate Law Studies 16*, pp. 39-68.
- Khanna, Vikramaditya & Varottil, Umakanth (2015): "Regulating Squeeze-Outs in India: A Comparative Perspective", *American Journal of Comparative Law 63*, pp. 1009-1051.
- Kim, Kon-Sik & Choi, Moon-Hee, "Declining Relevance of Lawsuits on the Validity of Shareholder Resolution in Korea", in *German and Asian Perspectives on Company Law* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck; Holger Fleischer, Hideki Kanda, Kon Sik Kim and Peter Mülbert eds. 2016), pp. 218-241.
- Koh, Alan K. (2016): "Reconstructing the reflective loss principle", *Journal of Corporate Law Studies 16*, pp. 373-401.
- Krebs, Christian A. (2012): "Freeze-Out Transactions in Germany and the U.S.: A Comparative Analysis", *German Law Journal 13*, pp. 941-978.
- Kubis, Dietmar (2015): "SpruchG § 3", in *Münchener Kommentar zum Aktiengesetz* (vol. 5, 4th ed., Wulf Goette & Mathias Habersack eds., 2015).
- Korsmo, Charles R. & Myers, Minor (2015): "Appraisal Arbitrage and The Future Of Public Company M&A", Washington University Law Review 92, pp. 1551-1615.
- La Porta, Rafael, Lopez-de-Silanes, Florencio & Shleifer, Andrei (1999): "Corporate Ownership Around the World", *Journal of Finance 54*, pp. 471-517.
- Moll, Douglas K. (2005): "Minority Oppression & the Limited Liability Company: Learning (or not) From Close Corporation History", *Wake Forest Law Review 40*, pp. 883-976.
- Naruisch, Till & Liepe, Fabian (2007): "Latest Developments in the German Law on Public Companies by the Act on Corporate Integrity and Modernisation of the Right of Resolution-Annulment (UMAG) Shareholder Activism and Directors' Liability Reloaded", *Journal of Business Law*, pp. 225-243.
- Oda, Hiroshi (2011): "Shareholder's Derivative Action in Japan", *European Company and Financial Law Review*, pp. 334-351.
- O'Neal, Hodge & Thompson, Robert B. (2016): O'Neal and Thompson's Close Corporations and LLCs: Law and Practice (Thomson Reuters, November 2016 Update).

- Osugi, Kenichi (2016): "Directors' Liability and Enforcement Mechanisms in Japan", in *German and Asian Perspectives on Company Law* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck; Holger Fleischer, Hideki Kanda, Kon Sik Kim & Peter Mülbert eds. 2016), pp. 47-62.
- Paul, Carsten (2010): "Derivative Actions under English and German Corporate Law Shareholder Participation between the Tension Filled Areas of Corporate Governance and Malicious Shareholder Interference, *European Company and Financial Law Review*, pp. 81-115.
- Puchniak, Dan W. (2012): "The complexity of derivative actions in Asia: an inconvenient truth", in *The Derivative Action in Asia* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; Dan W. Puchniak, Harald Baum & Michael Ewing-Chow eds.), pp. 90-127.
- Puchniak, Dan W. & Nakahigashi, Masafumi (2012): "Japan's Love for Derivative Actions: Irrational Behavior and Non-Economic Motives as Rational Explanations for Shareholder Litigation", *Vanderbilt Journal of Transnational Law* 45, pp. 1-82.
- Ringe, Wolf-Georg (2015): "Changing Law and Ownership Patterns in Germany: Corporate Governance and the Erosion of Deutschland AG", *American Journal of Comparative Law 68*, pp. 493-538.
- Ringe, Wolf-Georg (2017): "Das Beschlussmängelrecht in Großbritannien", *Rabels Zeitschrift für ausländisches und internationales Privatrecht 81*, pp. 249-298.
- Rock, Edward, Davies, Paul, Kanda, Hideki, Kraakman, Reinier & Ringe, Wolf-Georg (2017): "Fundamental Changes", in *The Anatomy of Corporate Law* (Oxford: Oxford University Press; Reinier Kraakman et al.).
- Roe, Mark J. (1994): Strong Managers, Weak Owners The Political Roots of American Corporate Finance (Princeton: Princeton University Press).
- Saenger, Ingo (2015): "The Best Interest of the Corporation, Procedural Questions of Enforcing Individual and Corporate Rights and Legal Actions against Board members," *European Business Law Review*, pp. 13-29
- Sáez, Maria Isabel & Riaño, Damaso (2013): "Corporate Governance and the Shareholders' Meeting: Voting and Litigation", *European Business Organization Law Review 14*, pp. 343-399.
- Schuit, Steven R., Bier, Barbara, Verburg, Leonard G. & Ter Wisch, Jan A. (2002): *Corporate Law and Practice of the Netherlands* (Kluwer Law International).
- Siems, Mathias (2012): "Private enforcement of directors' duties", in *Collective Actions* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), pp. 93-115.

- Stürner, Rolf (2001): "Transnational Civil Procedure: Discovery and Sanctions Against Non-Compliance", *Uniform Law Review 6*, pp. 871-886.
- Ulmer, Peter (1999): "Die Aktionärsklage als Instrument zur Kontrolle des Vorstands- und Aufsichtsratshandelns", Zeitschrift für das gesamte Handels- und Wirtschaftsrecht 163, pp. 290-342.
- Velikonja, Urska (2013): "The Cost of Securities Fraud", William & Mary Law Review 54, pp. 1887-1957.
- Ventoruzzo, Marco (2010): "Freeze-Outs: Transcontinental Analysis and Reform Proposals", *Virginia Journal of International Law 50*, pp. 841-917.
- Ventoruzzo, Marco (2013): "Issuing New Shares And Preemptive Rights: A Comparative Analysis", *Richmond Journal Of Global Law & Business 12*, pp. 517-542.
- Vermeulen, Erik P.M. & Zetzsche, Dirk A. (2010): "The Use and Abuse of Investor Lawsuits", *European Company and Financial Law Review*, pp. 1-62.
- West, Mark D. (1994): "The Pricing of Shareholder Derivative Actions in Japan and the United States", *Northwestern University Law Review* 88, pp. 1436-1507.
- West, Mark D. (2001): "Why Shareholders Sue: The Evidence from Japan", *Journal of Legal Studies 30*, pp. 351-382.
- Zhang, Zhong (2011): "The shareholder derivative action and good corporate governance in China: why the excitement is actually for nothing", *Pacific Basin Law Journal 28*, pp. 174-209.

corporate governance instituteuropean corporate

about ECGI

The European Corporate Governance Institute has been established to improve *corporate governance through fostering independent scientific research and related activities.*

The ECGI will produce and disseminate high quality research while remaining close to the concerns and interests of corporate, financial and public policy makers. It will draw on the expertise of scholars from numerous countries and bring together a critical mass of expertise and interest to bear on this important subject.

The views expressed in this working paper are those of the authors, not those of the ECGI or its members.

european corporate governance institute

ECGI Working Paper Series in Law

Editorial Board

Editor Luca Enriques, Allen & Overy Professor of Corporate Law,

Faculty of Law, University of Oxford

Consulting Editors John Coates, John F. Cogan, Jr. Professor of Law and

Economics, Harvard Law School

Paul Davies, Senior Research Fellow, Centre for Commercial

Law, Harris Manchester College, University of Oxford

Horst Eidenmüller, Freshfields Professor of Commercial Law,

University of Oxford

Amir Licht, Professor of Law, Radzyner Law School,

Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya

Roberta Romano, Sterling Professor of Law and Director, Yale Law School Center for the Study of Corporate Law, Yale Law

School

Editorial Assistants : Tamas Barko , University of Mannheim

european corporate governance instituteeuropean

Electronic Access to the Working Paper Series

The full set of ECGI working papers can be accessed through the Institute's Web-site (www.ecgi.org/wp) or SSRN:

Finance Paper Series	http://www.ssrn.com/link/ECGI-Fin.html
Law Paper Series	http://www.ssrn.com/link/ECGI-Law.html